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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
CANDICE BARNETT, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
LIFESTREAM, 
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 09-0615 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

This cause came on for final hearing before Harry L. 

Hooper, Administrative Law Judge with the Division of 

Administrative Hearings, on April 7, 2009, in Ocala, Florida. 

APPEARANCES
 
 For Petitioner:  Candice Barnett, pro se 
                  1850 Southeast 18th Avenue, No. 1601 
                  Ocala, Florida  34491 
 
 For Respondent:  Victoria McCloskey, Esquire 
                  Albert Guemmer, Esquire 
                  Guemmer & Ritt 
                  3002 West Kennedy Boulevard 
                  Tampa, Florida  33609 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 The issue is whether Respondent engaged in an unlawful 

employment practice. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

 Petitioner Candice Barnett (Ms. Barnett) filed an 

Employment Complaint of Discrimination with the Florida 



Commission on Human Relations (Commission) on July 16, 2008.  

She alleged that Respondent Lifestream Behavioral Center, of 

Leesburg, Florida (Lifestream), had discriminated against her 

based on a disability or handicap.  On January 5, 2009, the 

Commission entered its determination that there was no cause to 

believe that an unlawful employment practice had occurred. 

 On January 30, 2009, Ms. Barnett filed a Petition for 

Relief with the Commission.  The matter was duly forwarded to 

the Division of Administrative Hearings, and a hearing was 

completed on April 7, 2009. 

At the hearing, Ms. Barnett testified, but offered no 

exhibits.  Lifestream presented the testimony of Van Hargrove, 

Lifestream's human resources officer; Veronica Duarte; and 

Dr. John Lot III, and offered 35 exhibits into evidence.  All 

were accepted.  

A Transcript was filed on May 7, 2009.  After the hearing, 

Respondent filed its Proposed Recommended Order on May 8, 2009.  

Petitioner filed her Proposed Recommended Order on May 9, 2009. 

References to statutes are to Florida Statutes (2008) 

unless otherwise noted.   

FINDINGS OF FACT

 1.  Ms. Barnett is a resident of Ocala, Florida.  She 

executed Lifestream's employment application form on January 30, 

2007.  She claimed a bachelor's degree from Brooklyn College and 
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a Master's in Social Work from Upsala College in East Orange, 

New Jersey.  Her application indicated that she was a social 

worker in New York from September 1987 until December 2003. 

 2.  Ms. Barnett moved to Florida and was employed by the 

Marion County Drug Court, but quit, according to Ms. Barnett, 

because she had a heart attack in November 2005.  Thereafter, 

she worked for a company named ResCare in Gainesville, Florida.  

Her job entailed working with mentally handicapped adults.  She 

was discharged from this job for losing her temper.   

 3.  Lifestream operates a detoxification facility and 

crisis stabilization unit among other things.  It provides 

services to children, adults, and the elderly.  Lifestream's 

mission is to provide quality life enrichment services through 

prevention, education, and treatment.   

 4.  Ms. Barnett was employed as an emergency evaluator on 

or about February 15, 2007.  An emergency evaluator works in the 

receiving area of the Lifesteam facility.  Clients are brought 

to the facility by law enforcement or friends or family.  Some 

clients appear voluntarily.  Clients enter the facility at 

irregular hours. 

 5.  As an emergency evaluator, it was Ms. Barnett's job to 

search new clients to ascertain if they possessed weapons, in 

order to ensure the safety of the client and staff, and to 

evaluate them for mental status using Diagnostic and Statistical 
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Manual IV.  It was her job to notify the nursing supervisor of 

the health status of new clients and to prepare records. 

 6.  Occasionally clients were violent, and at least once 

Ms. Barnett was attacked by a client.  This attack occurred on 

May 3, 2007.  She claimed that she had 17 injured discs in her 

back.  She claimed that these injuries occurred in part while 

working for Lifestream, although she did not assert that all of 

these injuries occurred during the alleged attack.  

 7.  Ms. Barnett also stated that she was scheduled for 

surgery and stated that a steel rod would be inserted in her 

back at Tampa General Hospital.  Although there was no medical 

evidence introduced that corroborated her testimony, it was 

unrebutted and is accepted as true.   

 8.  There was no proof that these claimed medical 

deficiencies resulted in a disability.  In any event, the record 

is completely devoid of any evidence that anyone at Lifestream 

was aware of that Ms. Barnett might have been disabled or that 

anyone perceived her as disabled.  Moreover, she never requested 

an accommodation. 

 9.  Ms. Barnett's alleged disability first surfaced in 

Ms. Barnett's Employment Complaint of Discrimination, subsequent 

to her termination, which occurred on December 15, 2007. 

 10.  During the approximately 10 months of employment at 

Lifestream, Ms. Barnett was absent for her scheduled shift on 56 
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days.  She did not inform Lifestream in advance that she was not 

going to appear for work and as a result, Lifestream found it 

necessary to replace her with other employees.  This often 

resulted in Lifestream bearing the cost of overtime pay. 

 11.  When Ms. Barnett did work, her performance was poor, 

and she was counseled about it.  The charts that she was 

required to maintain often failed to contain necessary 

documentation and signatures.  During the course of her 

employment, she received five verbal and written reprimands 

addressing her poor job performance. 

 12.  Lifestream's constant uncertainty regarding 

Ms. Barnett's attendance at work, an essential part of her job, 

coupled with her poor performance, culminated in her being 

removed from the work schedule in October 2008.  She was not 

formally discharged until December 2008.  She remains eligible 

for re-hire at Lifestream. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 13.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of and the parties to this 

proceeding.  §§ 120.57(1) and 760.11, Fla. Stat.   

14.  Sections 760.01-760.11 and 509.092, Florida Statutes, 

comprise the "Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992."  § 760.01(1), 

Fla. Stat.   
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15.  Lifestream is an "employer" pursuant to Subsection 

760.02(7), Florida Statutes. 

16.  It is an unlawful employment practice for an employer 

to discriminate against any individual with respect to 

compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment 

because of such individual's handicap.  § 760.10(1), Fla. Stat.   

17.  "Handicap" is defined in Subsection 760.22(7), Florida 

Statutes, as follows: 

  (a)  A person has a physical or mental 
impairment which substantially limits one  
or more of major life activities, or he or 
she has a record of having, or is regarded 
as having, such physical or mental 
impairment; . . . 

 
18.  This definition is essentially similar to the 

definition in the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), 

42 U.S.C.A. Section 12101-12213, which provides that disability 

is: 

(a)  A physical or mental impairment that 
substantially limits one or more of the 
major life activities of such individual; 
 
(b)  A record of such an impairment; 
 
(c)  Being regarded as having such an 
impairment. 

 
19.  Disability discrimination claims under the Florida 

Civil Rights Act are analyzed under the same framework as ADA 

claims.  D'Angelo v. ConAgra Foods, Inc., 422 F.3d 1220 (11th 
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Cir. 2005).  Thus, the provisions of Chapter 760, Florida 

Statutes, are analogous to those of the ADA. 

20.  A petitioner in a disability discrimination case has 

the initial burden of proving a prima facie case of 

discrimination under the ADA by demonstrating that (1) she has a 

disability under the Florida Civil Rights Act; (2) that she is a 

qualified individual, meaning she is able to perform the 

essential functions of the position with or without 

accommodation; and, (3) that she was discharged because of a 

disability.  See Terrell v. USAir, 132 F.3d 621, 624 (11th Cir. 

1998).   

21.  The ADA identifies three categories of disability that 

place an individual within the statute's protections.  In order 

to be disabled as defined by the ADA, a person:  (1) must have a 

physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or 

more of the major life activities of such individual; (2) must 

have a record of such impairment; (3) or must be regarded as 

having such impairment.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2). 

22.  Factors to consider when determining whether an 

individual is "substantially limited include:  (1) the nature and 

the severity of the impairment; (2) the duration or expected 

duration of the impairment; and (3) the permanent or long-term 

impact, or the expected permanent or long-term impact of or 

resulting from the impairment."  See 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(2). 
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23.  An impairment's minor interference in major life 

activities does not qualify as a disability.  See Toyota Motor 

Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002). 

24.  Ms. Barnett did not attempt to persuade Lifestream 

during her employment that she was disabled.  She was not 

regarded as disabled.  Moreover, she did not offer any persuasive 

evidence at the hearing that she was disabled as defined by the 

ADA.  It is found as a fact that during her employment with 

Lifestream, she was not disabled nor was she regarded as 

disabled. 

25.  Ms. Barnett was unable to satisfy the second prong of 

the test for disability discrimination because she did not 

demonstrate that she was a qualified individual able to perform 

the essential functions of her position with or without 

accommodation.  Attendance is an essential function of the 

position she held.  The evidence demonstrated that she did not 

report to work as assigned.  Her poor job performance indicates 

that Ms. Barnett cannot be considered qualified.  See Waggoner v. 

Olin Corporation, 169 F.3d 481, 483 (7th Cir. 1999), where the 

court found the petitioner was "not a qualified individual with a 

disability because of her spotty attendance record." 

26.  Proof of the third prong, that Ms. Barnett was 

discharged because of a disability, was entirely absent. 
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27.  Since Ms. Barnett was unable to prove a prima facie 

case of discrimination, Lifestream is not required to offer any 

legitimate reasons for its termination decision.  The record is 

abundantly clear, nevertheless, that the termination was based on 

Ms. Barnett's absenteeism and poor job performance and was not at 

all motivated by any discrimination based on disability.  Her 

absenteeism and poor job performance provided ample 

nondiscriminatory reasons for discharging her.  These were 

certainly not pretextual reasons. 

RECOMMENDATION

 Based upon the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,  

it is  

 RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing the Petition of Candice Barnett. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 19th day of May, 2009, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                           

HARRY L. HOOPER 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 19th day of May, 2009. 

 
 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Candice Barnett 
1850 Southeast 18th Avenue, No. 1601 
Ocala, Florida  34491 
 
Victoria McCloskey, Esquire 
Albert Guemmer, Esquire 
Guemmer & Ritt 
3002 West Kennedy Boulevard 
Tampa, Florida  33609 
 
Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case.  
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
BETH THULIN, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
CITY OF FLAGLER BEACH, FL, 
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 09-0092 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
 A formal hearing was conducted in this case on March 18 and 

19, 2009, in Bunnell, Florida, by Suzanne F. Hood, 

Administrative Law Judge with the Division of Administrative 

Hearings.   

APPEARANCES 

 For Petitioner:  Thomas A. Delegal, III, Esquire 
                      Wendy E. Byndloss, Esquire 
                      Delegal Law Offices, P.A. 
                      424 East Monroe Street 
                      Jacksonville, Florida  32202 
 
 For Respondent:  Michael Bowling, Esquire 
                      Kara Rogers, Esquire 
                      Bell, Roper & Kohlmyer, P.A. 
                      2707 East Jefferson Street 
                      Orlando, Florida  32803 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 The issues are whether Petitioner committed an unlawful 

employment practice by discriminating against Petitioner based 

on her sex in violation of Section 760.10(1)(a), Florida 



Statutes (2008), and by retaliating against her contrary to 

Section 760.10(7), Florida Statutes (2008). 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On or about May 17, 2008, Petitioner Beth Thulin 

(Petitioner) filed an Employment Complaint of Discrimination 

against Respondent City of Flagler Beach, Florida (Respondent).  

The complaint alleged that Petitioner had been sexually 

harassed, unfairly disciplined, subjected to different terms and 

conditions, retaliated against, and constructively discharged.   

 On December 1, 2008, The Florida Commission on Human 

Relations (FCHR) issued a Determination: No Cause.  On 

January 5, 2009, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief with 

FCHR.  The petition was referred to the Division of 

Administrative Hearings on January 8, 2009.   

 A Notice of Hearings dated January 23, 2009, scheduled the 

hearing for March 18, 2009.  On March 10, 2009, the undersigned 

issued an Order granting Respondent's unopposed Request for 

Additional Hearing Date.   

 On March 11, 2009, Petitioner filed a Motion for Change of 

Venue.  After a telephone conference on March 12, 2009, the 

undersigned issued an Amended Notice of Hearing changing the 

location of the hearing.   

 During the hearing, Petitioner testified on her own behalf 

and presented the testimony of four additional witnesses.  
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Petitioner offered Petitioner's Exhibit Nos. P1 through P8 that 

were accepted as evidence.   

 Respondent presented the testimony of six witnesses.  

Respondent offered Respondent's Exhibit Nos. R1 through R15 that 

were accepted as evidence.   

 The Transcript was filed on March 13, 2009.  The parties 

filed their proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law on 

April 21, 2009.   

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Respondent hired Petitioner as Finance Director in 

September 2005.  Petitioner took the position during a very 

challenging time because the budget was immediately due, an 

audit was six months past due, and allegations of embezzlement 

had been lodged against the former finance director.  Petitioner 

successfully managed these challenges.   

 2.  Petitioner reported directly to the City Manager.  The 

City Manager reported to the City Commissioners.  The City 

Manager directed the day-to-day supervision and management of 

Petitioner and other department heads.   

 3.  Bill Veach was the City Manager when Respondent hired 

Petitioner.  Mr. Veach gave Petitioner excellent performance 

evaluations.  Additionally, Randy Bush, City Commissioner from 

2002 to 2006, and Bob Mish, City Commissioner from 2004 to 2006, 

commended Petitioner for her work.   
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 4.  At the time of the hearing, Ron Vath had been a City 

Commissioner for eight years.  Mr. Vath frequently went to the 

City Hall to pick up his mail.  He often asked Petitioner to 

compile information or answer questions related to finance 

matters, especially during budget time.  Initially, Mr. Vath was 

satisfied with Petitioner's work performance.   

 5.  In addition to seeking financial information from 

Petitioner, Mr. Vath made inappropriate sexual comments to 

Petitioner.  For instance, Mr. Vath would look at Petitioner and 

say "yum yum."  He commented on Petitioner's clothes as being 

sexy and told her that she "had very nice looking legs."   

 6.  On one occasion, Mr. Vath and Petitioner were standing 

near the copy machine.  Mr. Vath stated in a very low tone, "I 

don't know what's been going on with my mind lately, it could be 

the new medication I'm on, but I've been having very erotic 

dreams lately and you've been in some of them."   

 7.  Sometime in June or July 2006, Mr. Vath was in or near 

Petitioner's office cubicle discussing some figures.  When 

Mr. Vath became very quiet, Petitioner inquired if he was okay.  

Mr. Vath then leaned across Petitioner's desk, looked her 

straight in the eye, and said, "I'm okay, but I have a very big 

hard on right now."  Petitioner pushed her chair away from her 

desk and told Mr. Vath, "You need to go home and take that up 

with your wife."   
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 8.  After Mr. Vath's inappropriate comment, Petitioner saw 

James Ramer, Respondent's Water Plant Superintendent.  

Petitioner told Mr. Ramer that Mr. Vath had made a pass at her.   

 9.  Roger Free was Respondent's Chief of Police until 

September 2007.  Petitioner told Chief Free about Mr. Vath's 

"hard on" comment.  Chief Free advised Petitioner to follow 

Respondent's procedures and talk to Mr. Veach.   

 10.  A couple of days later, Petitioner verbally reported 

Mr. Vath's "hard on" comment to Mr. Veach.  Mr. Veach suggested 

that Petitioner file a complaint.  Petitioner told Mr. Veach 

that she did not want to file a written complaint because it 

might cause her trouble.  Mr. Veach honored her request and did 

not make a written record of the complaint or perform any type 

of investigation.   

 11.  Bernard Murphy became Interim City Manager in 

September 2006.  When he took the position, Petitioner was 

introduced to him as "someone people liked and could do good 

work."   

 12.  In November 2006, Petitioner told Mr. Murphy about 

Mr. Vath's "hard on" comment.  Once again Petitioner decided 

that she did not want to make a formal complaint followed by an 

investigation.  Mr. Murphy did not make a written record of the 

allegations, but he told Petitioner to let him know if it 

happened again.   
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 13.  Petitioner requested that Mr. Murphy keep her concern 

about Mr. Vath's comment confidential.  Mr. Murphy honored that 

request until he learned that Petitioner was telling other city 

employees and city commissioners.  Mr. Murphy then questioned 

Mr. Vath, who denied making the inappropriate comment.   

 14.  Mr. Vath's attitude toward Petitioner immediately 

changed.  He continued to question Petitioner about her work and 

to complain to Mr. Murphy about her job performance.  However, 

Petitioner did not experience anymore specific instances of 

sexually inappropriate comments from Mr. Vath. 

 15.  At all times relevant here, Elizabeth Kania was 

Mr. Murphy's assistant/human resource director.  Months after 

the incident occurred, Petitioner told Ms. Kania, in an informal 

conversation, about Mr. Vath's "hard on" comment.  Petitioner 

told Ms. Kania that Petitioner would not report it unless it 

happened again.  Petitioner complained on a regular basis to 

Ms. Kania about Mr. Vath's questions and requests for additional 

financial information that added to Petitioner's workload.   

 16.  Elizabeth Mathis was Respondent's utility services 

manager.  Petitioner supervised Ms. Mathis whose workspace was 

approximately three feet from Petitioner's cubicle.  At some 

point in time, Petitioner told Ms. Mathis about Mr. Vath's 

sexually inappropriate comment.   

 6



 17.  Kathleen Doyle served as an accountant under 

Petitioner's supervision.  Petitioner complained to Ms. Doyle 

about one sexually inappropriate comment by Mr. Vath.  Ms. Doyle 

also observed that Petitioner took offense to Mr. Vath's 

questions.   

 18.  Mr. Murphy, Petitioner, and other members of 

Petitioner's staff often told off-color jokes to each other.  

They occasionally used vulgar language and made profane 

statements in the work place.  As a participant in this type of 

inappropriate office behavior, Petitioner was in no position to 

complain.   

 19.  Occasionally, Mr. Murphy made specific inappropriate 

comments that Petitioner never complained of until she resigned.  

For example, he referred to his former assistant as having big 

tits.  He also stated that his dermatologist was sexy and that a 

woman in a bathing suit outside his window was attractive.  

After returning from a humanitarian mission to India, Mr. Murphy 

stated that Indian women were sensual.  These comments occurred 

over a period of many months.   

 20.  Initially, Petitioner and Mr. Murphy were on a first 

name basis.  However, as time went on, Mr. Murphy began to have 

justifiable concerns about Petitioner's work performance.   

 21.  At times, Mr. Murphy would become angry and raise his 

voice at Petitioner.  On another occasion, Mr. Murphy 
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inappropriately used his finger to "flip a bird" at Petitioner 

as he walked off after a disagreement about Petitioner's work.  

However, there is no persuasive evidence that Mr. Murphy's 

inappropriate conduct was in retaliation for Petitioner's 

allegations against Mr. Vath.   

 22.  Mr. Murphy's only formal disciplinary action against 

Petitioner concerned an attendance issue.  He gave Petitioner a 

written reprimand on April 8, 2008, because she misrepresented 

the reason for taking sick leave.  Petitioner admits that she 

was not absent on April 7, 2008 due to illness.  Instead, 

Petitioner was in Savannah, Georgia, interviewing for the 

position that she presently holds.  The greater weight of the 

evidence refutes Petitioner's claim that she was constructively 

discharged.   

 23.  Petitioner first reported her allegation of sexually 

offensive behavior against Mr. Murphy in her resignation letter 

dated April 22, 2008.  Specifically, Petitioner claimed that 

Mr. Murphy spoke about women as being "sensual" and that he made 

comments about bodily characteristics of women.  Petitioner 

complained about Mr. Murphy's management style of verbal abuse 

as being belittling, demeaning, and offending.   

 24.  City Commissioner Jane Mealy investigated the 

complaints contained in Petitioner's resignation letter.  
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Ms. Mealy was unable to substantiate the allegations of sexually 

inappropriate and harassing behavior.   

 25.  Petitioner had been looking for another job for over 

one and one-half years because of her low tolerance to 

criticism.  Petitioner resigned her employment with Respondent 

only after she received an offer of employment from her current 

employer, Chatham Area Transit Authority.   

 26.  At all relevant times, Petitioner was aware of 

Respondent's sexual harassment policy.  The policy defines 

sexual harassment as "[u]nwelcome sexual advances of whatever 

nature, requests for sexual favors or other verbal or physical 

conduct of a sexual nature."  See Section 2-200, Personnel Code 

of City of Flagler Beach (Personnel Code).  Section 2-202 of the 

Personnel Code states as follows:   

     (a)  The city shares a common belief 
that each employee should be able to work in 
an environment free of discrimination, and 
any form of harassment, based on race, 
color, religion, age, sex, pregnancy, 
national origin, handicap or marital status.   
     (b)  To help assure that none of our 
employees feel that they are being subjected 
to harassment and in order to create a 
comfortable work environment, the city 
prohibits any offensive physical written or 
spoken conduct regarding any of these items, 
including conduct of a sexual nature.  This 
includes: 
     (1)  Unwelcome or unwanted advances, 
including sexual advances. 
     (2)  Unwelcome requests or demands for 
favors, including sexual favors. 
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     (3)  Verbal or visual abuse or kidding 
that is oriented toward a prohibited form of 
harassment, including that which is sexually 
oriented and considered unwelcome. 
     (4)  Any type of sexually oriented 
conduct or other prohibited form of 
harassment that would unreasonably interfere 
with work performance. 
     (5)  Creating a work environment that 
is intimidating, hostile, abusive or 
offensive because of unwelcome or unwanted 
conversation, suggestions, requests, 
demands, physical contact or attentions, 
whether sexually oriented or other related 
to a prohibited form of harassment.   
     (c)  If an employee believes that he or 
she is being subjected to any of these forms 
of harassment, or believes that he or she is 
being discriminated against because other 
employees are receiving favored treatment in 
exchange for sexual favors, he or she must 
bring this to the attention of appropriate 
persons in management.  The very nature of 
harassment makes it virtually impossible to 
detect unless the person being harassed 
registers his or her discontent with the 
city's representative.  Consequently, in 
order for the city to deal with the problem, 
the employee must report such offensive 
conduct or situation to the city manager. 
     (d)  A record of the complaint and the 
findings will become a part of the file and 
will be maintained separately from the 
employee's personnel file. 
     (e)  It is understood that any person 
electing to utilize this complaint 
resolution procedure will be treated 
courteously, the problem handled swiftly and 
confidentially, and the registering of a 
complaint will in no way be used against the 
employee, nor will it have an adverse impact 
on the individual's employment status.   
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 27.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

case pursuant to Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, 

Florida Statutes (2008). 

 28.  Section 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008), states 

as follows:   

     (1)  It is an unlawful employment 
practice for an employer:   
     (a) To discharge or to fail or refuse 
to hire any individual, or otherwise to 
discriminate against any individual with 
respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 
or privileges of employment, because of such 
individual's race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin, age, handicap, or marital 
status. 
 

Additionally, it is unlawful for an employer to retaliate 

against any person because that person has opposed any practice 

which is an unlawful employment practice.  § 760.10(7), Fla. 

Stat. (2008).   

 29.  The Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA), Sections 760.01 

through 760.11, Florida Statutes (2008), as amended, was 

patterned after Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 

U.S.C.S. 2000 et seq.  Federal case law interpreting Title VII 

is applicable to cases arising under the FCRA.  See Green v. 

Burger King Corp., 728 So. 2d 369, 370-371 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999); 
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Florida State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1996).   

 30.  Petitioner has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondent discriminated or 

retaliated against her.  See Florida Dep't of Transportation v. 

J.W.C. Company, Inc. 396 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).   

 31.  Petitioner can establish a case of discrimination or 

retaliation through direct evidence or circumstantial evidence.  

See Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1561-1562 (11th Cir. 

1997).  In this case, Petitioner has not shown any direct 

evidence of discriminatory or retaliatory intent.   

 32.  Under McDonnell Douglas Corp v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 

802-805 (1973), an employment discrimination case based on 

circumstantial evidence involves the following burden-shifting 

analysis:  (a) the employee must first establish a prima facie 

case of discrimination; (b) the employer may then rebut the 

prima facie case by articulating a legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

reason for the employment action in question; and (c) the 

employee then bears the ultimate burden of persuasion to 

establish that the employer's proffered reason for the action 

taken is merely a pretext for discrimination.   

 Sexual Harassment and Sex 

 33.  To prove a prima facie case of sexual harassment, 

Petitioner must establish the following:  (a) she belongs to a 
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protected group; (b) she was subjected to unwelcome harassment; 

(c) the harassment was based on her gender; (d) the harassment 

was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the terms and 

conditions of her employment and create an abusive working 

environment; and (e) a basis for holding Respondent liable.  See 

Gupta v. Florida Bd. of Regents, 212 F.3d 571. 582-583 (11th 

Cir. 2000).   

 34.  Proof that sexually harassing conduct was sufficiently 

severe or pervasive so as to alter the terms or conditions of 

employment includes a subjective and objective component.  The 

employee must subjectively perceive the harassment as 

sufficiently severe and pervasive and this subjective perception 

must be objectively reasonable, i.e. an environment that a 

reasonable person would find hostile or abusive.  See Mendoza v. 

Borden, Inc., 195 F.3d 1238, 1245 (11th Cir. 1999).   

 35.  In determining whether harassment objectively alters 

an employee's terms or conditions of employment, the following 

factors must be considered:  (a) the frequency of the conduct; 

(b) the severity of the conduct; (c) whether the conduct is 

physically threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive 

utterance; and (d) whether the conduct unreasonably interferes 

with the employee's job performance.  See Harris v. Forklift 

Systems, Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 23 (1993).   
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 36.  Here, Mr. Vath's sexually inappropriate comments were 

intermittent at most.  While Petitioner may have been offended, 

there is no credible evidence that Mr. Vath's comments 

interfered with Petitioner's job performance.  For the most 

part, Petitioner was offended by and sensitive to criticism of 

her work by Mr. Murphy.  It was not Mr. Vath's occasional 

comments that created what Petitioner perceived as a hostile 

work environment.   

 37.  Additionally, Petitioner has not shown that 

Mr. Murphy's inappropriate comments about women were as severe 

or pervasive as to create a hostile or abusive work environment.  

Mr. Murphy made the offensive utterances over the course of many 

months.  Petitioner did not complain about these statements 

until she resigned.   

 38.  Mr. Murphy apparently lost his temper with Petitioner 

and embarrassed her by raising his voice and finding fault with 

her work in public.  The most persuasive evidence indicates that 

Mr. Murphy's criticisms were not related to Petitioner's sex or 

any other protected basis.   

 Retaliation 

 39.  To support a prima facie case of retaliation, 

Petitioner must prove the following elements:  (a) she 

participated in a protected activity; (b) she was subjected to 

an adverse employment action; and (c) the existence of a causal 
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link between the protected activity and the adverse action.  See 

Pipkins v. City of Temple Terrace, 267 F.3d 1197, 1201 (11th 

Cir. 2001).   

 40.  An employee, like Petitioner, who makes an informal 

complaint but does not want an investigation conducted cannot 

claim that the informal complaint amounted to protected activity 

for the purposed of making a claim of retaliation.  See Alabama 

Dept. of Pub. Safety, 64 F. Supp. 2d 1215, 1233 (M.D. Ala. 

1999).   

 41.  Mr. Murphy had legitimate non-discriminatory, non-

retaliatory, reasons for criticizing Petitioner's work and for 

giving her a written reprimand.  There is no persuasive evidence 

that Mr. Murphy's reasons for these actions were a pretext for 

discriminatory or retaliatory intent.   

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

 RECOMMENDED: 

 That the Florida Commission on Human Relations dismiss the 

Petition for Relief with prejudice. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 22nd day of May, 2009, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S 
                                   
SUZANNE F. HOOD 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 22nd day of May, 2009. 

 
 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Michael H. Bowling, Esquire 
Bell, Roper & Kohlmyer, P.A. 
2707 East Jefferson Street 
Orlando, Florida  32803 
 
Thomas A. Delegal, III, Esquire 
Delegal Law Offices, P.A. 
424 East Monroe Street 
Jacksonville, Florida  32202 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case.  
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
NANCY E. CRONK, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
BROADVIEW MOBILE HOME PARK AND 
LAMONT GARBER, 
 
 Respondents. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 09-0037 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Daniel Manry conducted the 

final hearing of this case for the Division of Administrative 

Hearings (DOAH) on April 28, 2009, in Palm Bay, Florida. 

APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:   Richard W. Riehl, Esquire 
                       Deratany, Goldfarb, Riehl, & Reid 
                       503 Fifth Avenue, Suite 105 
                       Indialantic, Florida  32903 
 
     For Respondents:  Lamont Garber, pro se 
                       Broadview Mobile Home Park, LLC 
                       140 Orlando Boulevard, Suite 250 
                       Winter Park, Florida  32789 

 
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues are whether the respondents engaged in a 

discriminatory housing practice, in violation of the Florida 

Fair Housing Act, Sections 760.20 through 760.37, Florida 

Statutes (2007),1 by discriminating against Petitioner, on the 



basis of her alleged disability, and by harassing Petitioner and 

retaliating against her. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
 

Petitioner dual-filed housing discrimination complaints 

with United States Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations (the Commission).  HUD 

issued a determination on October 22, 2008, finding that the 

respondents did not engage in an unlawful housing practice.  The 

Commission issued a similar determination on December 11, 2008.  

Petitioner did not pursue the HUD determination, but requested 

an administrative hearing in the state proceeding by filing a 

Petition for Relief (Petition) with the Commission on January 6, 

2009.  The Commission referred the Petition to DOAH to conduct 

an administrative hearing. 

At the hearing, Petitioner testified, called one other 

witness, and submitted 11 exhibits for admission into evidence.  

The respondents called seven witnesses and submitted 17 

exhibits. 

The identity of the witnesses and exhibits, and the rulings 

regarding each, are reported in the record of the hearing.  

Neither party ordered a transcript of the hearing.  The parties 

timely filed their respective Proposed Recommended Orders on 

May 11, 2009. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT

1.  Petitioner is a former resident of Broadview Mobile 

Home Park (Broadview), located at 1701 Post Road, Melbourne, 

Florida.  Petitioner resided in Broadview for approximately six 

years from an undisclosed date in 2002 through September 8, 

2008. 

2.  Mr. Lamont Garber holds an ownership interest in 

Broadview.  The record does not quantify the ownership interest 

of Mr. Garber.  Mr. Garber manages Broadview with his brother, 

Mr. Wayne Garber. 

3.  Broadview rents sites within the mobile home park to 

residents who own mobile homes.  Each site has access to water 

and electric service.  Each resident arranges his or her water 

and electric service directly with the respective utility 

provider. 

4.  Sometime in 2005, Petitioner purchased a mobile home 

for approximately $6,500.00 and moved within Broadview to  

Lot 24.  The rental agreement for Lot 24 required rent to be 

paid on the first day of each month.  The rent for July 2008 was 

due on July 1, 2008. 

5.  Petitioner failed to pay the rent payment that was due 

on July 1, 2008.  On July 9, 2008, Broadview served Petitioner, 

by certified mail, with a notice that she had five business days 

in which to pay the rent due (the five-day notice). 
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6.  Petitioner received the five-day notice on July 10, 

2008.  The five-day period expired on July 17, 2008, with no 

rent payment from Petitioner.  Petitioner had paid rent late in 

the past, but Petitioner had never been more than four or five 

days late. 

7.  After July 17, 2008, Broadview initiated eviction 

proceedings.  Petitioner tendered the rent payment on July 20, 

2008, but Broadview proceeded with the eviction. 

8.  Petitioner did not appear and defend the eviction 

proceeding.  On August 26, 2008, the County Court for Brevard 

County, Florida, issued a Final Default Judgment of Eviction 

awarding possession of Lot 24 to Broadview.  Law enforcement 

officers thereafter executed the Court's order and evicted 

Petitioner from Broadview on or about September 8, 2008. 

9.  After Petitioner received the notice of eviction, she 

filed a complaint with the Florida Department of Business and 

Professional Regulation, Division of Florida Condominiums, 

Timeshares, and Mobile Homes (DBPR).  DBPR is the state agency 

responsible for regulating mobile home parks, including 

Broadview. 

10.  The allegations in the complaint that Petitioner filed 

with DBPR were substantially similar to the claims of 

discrimination, retaliation, harassment, and unlawful rent 

increases Petitioner asserts in this proceeding.  DBPR rejected 
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Petitioner's allegations and found that Broadview lawfully 

evicted Petitioner for non-payment of rent. 

11.  The final agency action of DBPR is substantially 

similar to that of HUD and the Commission's proposed agency 

action in this proceeding.  Each agency found that Broadview 

lawfully evicted Petitioner for non-payment of rent and rejected 

the allegations of discrimination, harassment, and retaliation.  

The DOAH proceeding is a de novo consideration of the proceeding 

before the Commission. 

12.  A preponderance of the evidence does not establish a 

prima facie showing that Petitioner is disabled or handicapped.  

Petitioner has cancer and is receiving chemotherapy and 

radiation treatment.  A preponderance of evidence does not show 

that the medical condition substantially limits one or more 

major life activities of Petitioner. 

13.  Petitioner also alleges that she is disabled and 

handicapped by a mental condition.  Petitioner submitted no 

medical evidence of the alleged disability or handicap.  A 

preponderance of evidence does not establish a prima facie 

showing that, if such a mental condition exists, the condition 

substantially limits one or more major life activities of 

Petitioner. 

14.  Assuming arguendo that a preponderance of the evidence 

showed that Petitioner were disabled or handicapped, a 
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preponderance of evidence does not establish a prima facie 

showing that either of the respondents discriminated against 

Petitioner, harassed her, or evicted her in retaliation for 

Petitioner's disability or handicap. 

15.  It is undisputed that Petitioner conducted 

neighborhood organization efforts to protest a rent increase at 

Broadview and repeatedly called law enforcement officials to 

report alleged drug and prostitution activity in Broadview.2  

However, Broadview did not evict Petitioner for those 

activities, and Petitioner's testimony to the contrary is 

neither credible nor persuasive. 

16.  Rather, Petitioner engaged in other activities that 

the respondents found objectionable.  Petitioner baby sat for 

one or more dogs in violation of Broadview's prohibition against 

pets.  Some of the dogs were dangerous to other residents.  

Petitioner also verbally abused Mr. Wayne Garber when he 

attempted to mediate with Petitioner concerning the presence of 

dogs and Petitioner's conduct toward management at Broadview. 

17.  On July 1, 2008, Broadview served Petitioner with a 

seven-day notice concerning Petitioner's compliance with lease 

requirements.  The notice, in relevant part, alleged that 

Petitioner harassed management and impaired the ability of 

management to perform its duties.  The testimony of respondents 

 6



describing the activities of Petitioner that precipitated the 

seven-day notice is credible and persuasive. 

18.  A preponderance of the evidence shows that the 

respondents had legitimate non-discriminatory reasons for 

requiring Petitioner to comply with the terms of the seven-day 

notice and for requiring Petitioner to comply with the 

requirement for rent to be paid on July 1, 2008.  Petitioner 

failed to comply with either requirement, and Broadview evicted 

Petitioner for legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons.  The 

respondents did not harass or retaliate against Petitioner.3 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

19.  DOAH has jurisdiction over the subject matter of and 

the parties to this proceeding.  §§ 760.20 through 760.37, 

120.569, 120.57(1), and 120.595, Fla. Stat. (2008).  DOAH 

provided the parties with adequate notice of the final hearing. 

20.  Petitioner has the burden of proof in this proceeding.  

Petitioner must submit evidence sufficient to establish a prima 

facie case of discrimination.  See Massaro v. Mainlands 

Section 1 and 2 Civic Association, Inc., 3 F.3d 1472, 1476 n.6 

(11th Cir. 1993)(fair housing discrimination is subject to the 

three-part test articulated in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 

411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973)); 

Secretary of the United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development on Behalf of Herron v. Blackwell, 908 F.2d 864, 870 
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(11th Cir. 1990)(three-part burden of proof test in McDonnell 

governs claims brought under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act).  

For reasons stated in the Findings of Fact, Petitioner did not 

present a prima facie case of discrimination, harassment, or 

retaliation. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Commission enter a final order finding 

that the respondents did not engage in an unlawful housing 

practice and dismissing the Petition for Relief. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 20th day of May, 2009, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                            
DANIEL MANRY 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 20th day of May, 2009. 
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ENDNOTES
 

1/  References to subsections, sections, and chapters are to 
Florida Statutes (2007), unless otherwise stated. 
 
2/  Petitioner submitted no evidence of criminal convictions that 
resulted from her complaints to police. 
 
3/  Petitioner testified that the respondents turned off her 
electric and water prior to the eviction date and prevented 
Petitioner from removing all of her belongings from the mobile 
home unless Petitioner agreed to sell the mobile home to the 
respondents for $500.00.  Most of that testimony pertains to 
alleged damages, which is a moot issue in the absence of a 
finding of discrimination, but, apart from its relevancy, the 
fact-finder does not find Petitioner's testimony on this point 
to be credible and persuasive. 
 
 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Richard W. Riehl, Esquire 
Deratany, Goldfarb, Riehl, & Reid 
503 Fifth Avenue, Suite 105 
Indialantic, Florida  32903 
 
Jeffrey M. Koltun, Esquire 
Kane and Koltun, Attorneys at Law 
557 North Wymore Road, Suite 100 
Maitland, Florida  32751 
 
Charles M. Greene, Esquire 
Charles M. Greene, P.A. 
28 East Washington Street 
Orlando, Florida  32801 
 
Lamont Garber 
Broadview Mobile Home Park, LLC 
140 Orlando Boulevard, Suite 250 
Winter Park, Florida  32789 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
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Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
VICTOIRE MERCERON, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
THE PARTNERSHIP, INC., 
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 08-6415 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
Pursuant to notice, a final hearing was conducted in this 

case on April 1, 2009, in Port Charlotte, Florida, before 

Administrative Law Judge R. Bruce McKibben of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings.    

APPEARANCES 
 

 For Petitioner:  Jennifer Miller-Veal, Esquire 
      1225 Tamiami Trail, Unit A-10 
      Port Charlotte, Florida  33953  
 
 For Respondent:  Peter L. Sampo, Esquire 
      Allen, Norton and Blue, P.A. 
      121 Majorca Avenue, Suite 300 
      Coral Gables, Florida  33134 
  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The issue in this case is whether Respondent violated the 

Fair Housing Act, Section 760.20, et seq., Florida Statutes 

(2008), by denying Petitioner housing based on her gender 

(female) and familial status (pregnant).   



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

 On or about September 30, 2008, Petitioner, Victoire 

Merceron, filed a Housing Discrimination Complaint with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations, alleging discrimination 

by Respondent, The Partnership, Inc.  Upon review of the 

Complaint, the Commission entered a Determination: No Cause.     

 Petitioner then filed a Petition for Relief which was 

transmitted to the Division of Administrative Hearings ("DOAH") 

on December 24, 2008.  Respondent filed an Answer and 

Affirmative Defenses to the Petition for Relief.  The matter was 

set for final hearing, and the parties submitted a joint 

Prehearing Stipulation on March 25, 2009.    

At the final hearing held on April 1, 2009, Petitioner 

relied upon the testimony of three witnesses:  Richard Elwood, 

regional manager for NDC Management; Petitioner, Victoire 

Merceron; and Arthur Fufidio, manager of The Pines (a low income 

apartment complex).  Petitioner offered one exhibit (a copy of 

Petitioner's Lease and Addendum with The Pines), which was 

received in evidence.  Respondent presented the testimony of two 

witnesses:  Jacquie Halvax, assistant manager at The Pines; and 

Beth Manning, property manager at The Pines.  Respondent also 

offered five exhibits, all of which were received in evidence.   

At the close of the evidentiary portion of the final 

hearing, the parties were allowed ten days from the filing of 
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the hearing transcript at DOAH to file their respective proposed 

recommended orders.  On April 13, 2009, Petitioner filed a 

Recommended Order [sic] setting forth proposed findings of fact 

and conclusions of law.  The Transcript was filed at DOAH on 

April 21, 2009.   

On May 4, 2009, one day after the proposed recommended 

orders were due to be filed at DOAH, Respondent filed a motion 

seeking additional time to file its proposed recommended order.  

Respondent requested to file its proposed recommended order on 

May 6, 2009 (three business days after it was initially due).  

Petitioner objected to Respondent's motion, stating that 

Respondent should have been more diligent.  No specific 

prejudice was alleged should Respondent's motion be granted.  

Respondent's motion was granted by the Administrative Law Judge, 

but Petitioner was given seven days to file a responsive 

proposed recommended order, if deemed necessary.  Petitioner 

filed a second response to Respondent's motion, claiming that 

failure to file the proposed recommended order timely was 

de facto evidence of prejudice against Petitioner.  Respondent 

filed its proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law and 

legal memorandum on May 6, 2009.  Petitioner filed a response to 

Respondent's proposed findings and conclusions.  All post-

hearing submissions by the parties were considered in the 

preparation of this Recommended Order.  
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All references to Florida Statutes herein shall be to the 

2008 version, unless specifically stated otherwise. 

FINDINGS OF FACT

1.  Petitioner, Victoire Merceron, is a single mother with 

three children.  At all times relevant hereto, she was living at 

an apartment complex known as The Pines pursuant to a Lease with 

NDC Management.  There was an Employee Lease Addendum dated 

February 2, 2008, attached to Petitioner's Lease.  The Addendum 

was signed by Petitioner to reflect her status as an employee of 

NDC Management and, therefore, eligible for a reduction in her 

monthly rent.  

2.  Respondent, The Partnership, Inc., is a real estate 

management company specializing in managing affordable housing 

properties which are experiencing problems or business 

difficulties.  Respondent began managing The Pines on August 1, 

2008.  Prior to that time, The Pines had been managed by NDC 

Management. 

3.  Petitioner had worked as a leasing consultant with NDC 

Management at The Pines from October 2007 until July 2008.  

During that time, she enjoyed the benefit of a 20 percent 

reduction in her rent (which was provided to all employees of 

NDC Management who lived in a managed property).  

4.  The Pines is owned by Punta Gorda Pines, Ltd.  It is a 

336-unit apartment complex which provides low income housing 
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(affordable housing) for qualified persons.  One hundred percent 

of the units at The Pines are set aside for low income 

residents.  Of the 336 units, 202 units (60 percent) have a 

rental amount which does not exceed 60 percent of the area 

median income.  One hundred and one units (33 percent) have an 

even lower rental amount.  The rental amounts and number of 

units is established annually by the Florida Housing Finance 

Corporation. 

5.  Respondent was contacted by the owner of The Pines at 

some point in 2008 concerning the assumption of management of 

The Pines due to problems existing at the property.  Respondent 

visited the property in July and met with some of the existing 

staff and management.  Respondent then assumed management of The 

Pines on August 1, 2008.  At that time, approximately 40 percent 

of the units at The Pines were not under lease to a tenant, 

i.e., the property was only 60 percent occupied.  Sixty percent 

occupancy is evidence of a "problem affordable property" from 

Respondent's perspective.  

6.  When Respondent took over management of The Pines, it 

terminated some of NDC Management's employees and retained some 

other employees.  Petitioner was not retained by Respondent as 

an employee.   

7.  The Employee Lease Addendum to Petitioner's Lease at 

The Pines included a clause that required Petitioner to vacate 
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her apartment within 15 days of termination of her employment 

with NDC Management.  Petitioner was terminated as of July 31, 

2008. 

8.  Upon termination of her employment, Petitioner 

requested from Respondent that she be allowed to remain in her 

current apartment beyond the 15-day extension period.  That 

request was granted by Respondent, and Petitioner was ultimately 

allowed to stay in the apartment through the end of August 2008. 

9.  As of July 31, 2008, Petitioner had two children and 

was pregnant with a third.  Inasmuch as she would need a home 

for her family, Petitioner asked Respondent to consider her as a 

new, non-employee tenant. 

10. Respondent agreed to consider Petitioner's request and 

asked Petitioner to provide proof of income so that a 

predetermination review could be conducted.  It was Respondent's 

policy to do a predetermination review prior to the formal 

application process.  The stated reason for this practice was 

that Respondent did not want an applicant to have to pay the 

non-refundable application fee, if the applicant was unlikely to 

be qualified to obtain an apartment. 

11. Respondent made its predetermination of eligibility 

using an Income and Rental Rates Chart which Respondent had 

developed.  The chart indicates the income necessary for rental 

of different size apartments within the complex.   
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12. In response to Respondent's request for income 

verification, Petitioner provided Respondent with a form (or 

letter) indicating that she had applied for payment of 

unemployment compensation for a two-week period.  The form 

indicated that Petitioner would receive $225.00 per week for 

that two-week period.  Petitioner represented to Respondent's 

agents that she had been approved for up to six months of 

unemployment compensation at $225.00 per week.1  There was, 

however, no competent evidence of that fact presented to 

Respondent (or introduced into evidence at the final hearing). 

13. Respondent calculated the amount of Petitioner's 

anticipated income based on the stated unemployment compensation 

payments to be made.  Two-hundred and twenty-five dollars per 

week for an entire year (52 weeks) would be a total of 

$11,700.00.  However, inasmuch as Petitioner only represented 

that she might receive up to six months of unemployment 

compensation, her anticipated annual income would be one-half 

that amount, or $5,850.00.  That amount of income was not 

sufficient to warrant approval for even the lowest priced units 

available at The Pines, i.e., $10,660.00 per year.2

14. Based upon its predetermination review, Respondent 

denied Petitioner's initial inquiry concerning eligibility for 

an apartment at The Pines.  That being the case, Respondent did 

not provide Petitioner a formal application to fill out.  It 
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would have been a fruitless exercise based on Petitioner's 

stated level of income. 

15. Respondent does not appear to discriminate on the 

basis of gender or familial relationship when renting to other 

residents.  In its Rent Roll from March 31, 2009, Respondent can 

point to over 70 single women with children living at The Pines.  

A large number of those women were at The Pines when Respondent 

took over management.  Others became residents during 

Respondent's tenure as manager.  

16. Respondent based its decision to deny Petitioner's 

inquiry solely on the information provided by Petitioner.  

Petitioner did not suggest to Respondent that she was receiving 

child support, alimony, or any other kind of support from a 

third party.  However, Petitioner maintains that the fathers of 

her children would provide support on an as-needed basis (but 

since Respondent didn't ask her about such support, she did not 

volunteer the information).  In January 2008, when Petitioner 

filled out a Residency Application to obtain an apartment at The 

Pines, she said she was not receiving any alimony or child 

support, nor had any such support been court ordererd.3  

Petitioner did not present any evidence at final hearing as to 

the amount or frequency of child support she received from her 

children's fathers.  It is, therefore, impossible to impute any 
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certain amount for the purpose of determining Petitioner's 

eligibility for an apartment at The Pines. 

17. When Petitioner was working at The Pines and a person 

seeking an apartment did not qualify financially, Petitioner 

would ask the person whether he or she could get someone to 

co-sign for him/her, guarantee his/her rent, etc., or whether he 

or she could receive child support.  It is not clear at what 

point in the application process (i.e., during predetermination 

or upon filing of a formal application form) Petitioner would 

make this inquiry. 

18. It appears Respondent did not seek further financial 

information from Petitioner after the predetermination review 

indicated she would not qualify.  However, there is no evidence 

that Respondent had a policy to make such inquiries.  

19. There is no evidence in the record that Petitioner 

re-applied to Respondent with an updated or amended statement of 

income after she was denied.    

20. Upon being denied a new apartment, Petitioner remained 

in her then-current apartment for some time after her lease was 

terminated.  Petitioner owed slightly over $1,000.00 in rent and 

fees for the apartment when she finally vacated it, but 

Respondent did not pursue payment of that arrearage.   
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

21. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties to and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to Section 120.569 and Subsection 120.57(1), 

Florida Statutes. 

22. Florida's Fair Housing Act (the "Act") is codified in 

Sections 760.20 through 760.37, Florida Statutes.  Subsection 

760.23, Florida Statutes, reads in pertinent part:  

  Discrimination in the sale or rental of 
housing and other prohibited practices.-- 

 
  (1)  It is unlawful to refuse to sell or 
rent after the making of a bona fide offer, 
to refuse to negotiate for the sale of 
rental of, or otherwise to make unavailable 
or deny a dwelling to any person because of 
race, color, national origin, sex, handicap, 
familial status, or religion.   

 
  (2)  It is unlawful to discriminate 
against any person in the terms, conditions, 
or privileges of sale or rental of a 
dwelling, or in the provision of services or 
facilities in connection therewith, because 
of race, color, national origin, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or religion. 

 
23. Petitioner has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondent violated the Act 

by discriminating against her as alleged.  §§ 120.57(1)(j) and 

760.34(5), Fla. Stat. 

24. There is a well-established three-prong test used to 

analyze cases brought under the Act, which is set forth in 
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McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973).  This 

test is stated as follows:  

First, the plaintiff has the burden of 
proving a prima facie case of discrimination 
by a preponderance of the evidence.  Second, 
if the plaintiff sufficiently establishes a 
prima facie case, the burden shifts to the 
defendant to "articulate some legitimate, 
nondiscriminatory reason" for its action.  
Third, if the defendant satisfies this 
burden, the plaintiff has the opportunity to 
prove by preponderance that the legitimate 
reasons asserted by the defendant are in 
fact mere pretext. 

 
25. United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development v. Blackwell, 908 F.2d 864, 870 (11th Cir. 1990), 

quoting Pollitt v. Bramel, 669 F. Supp. 172, 175 (S.D. Ohio 

1987). 

26. A prima facie showing of housing discrimination simply 

requires Petitioner to show she attempted to lease an apartment 

from Respondent, that her request was denied, and that she was a 

member of a protected class.  See Soules v. United States 

Department of Housing and Urban Development, 967 F.2d 817, 822 

(2d Cir. 1992).  Petitioner, a single mother of three children, 

is a member of a protected class.  Petitioner established a 

prima facie case. 

27. The burden then shifts to Respondent to show that the 

action it took--denying Petitioner's request--was based on a 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason.  As shown, Respondent 
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based its denial on Petitioner's failure to even minimally meet 

the income requirement for the lowest priced apartment available 

at The Pines.  

28. That being the case, the burden then shifts back to 

Petitioner to prove that Respondent's reasons were mere pretext 

and that the real reason for denial was discrimination.  There 

is no evidence in the record to support that contention.  

Respondent clearly leases to single mothers and expressed 

interest in leasing to Petitioner, but for her failure to meet 

the income requirement.   

29. Petitioner did not meet her burden of proof in this 

matter.  There is no improper pretext for Respondent's treatment 

of Petitioner's request for an apartment.  The rejection of 

Petitioner's request is based upon clearly established financial 

considerations. 

30. Respondent did not discriminate against Petitioner. 

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that a final order be entered by the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations upholding its Determination: No 

Cause and dismissing Petitioner, Victoire Merceron's, complaint.   
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DONE AND ENTERED this 21st day of May, 2009, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

                   

R. BRUCE MCKIBBEN 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 21st day of May, 2009. 

 
 

ENDNOTES 
 
1/  It is unclear from the record whether the amount of the 
unemployment compensation was $225.00 or $275.00 per week.  
However, inasmuch as neither amount would be sufficient to 
qualify Petitioner for the apartment she was seeking, the exact 
amount is not material to the discussion herein. 
 
2/  Respondent calculated Petitioner's eligibility on the basis 
of Petitioner and her two existing children.  The fact that 
Petitioner was pregnant meant that Respondent could have 
considered her as needing an apartment for four people, but that 
eligibility threshold would have been even higher.   
 
3/  Petitioner says that as of the date she filled out the 
application, that statement was true.  However, once her 
children were living full time with her, their fathers agreed to 
"help out," when necessary. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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